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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

The petitioners are Kristine Brecht, M.D., and 

Aesthetic Rejuvenation Spa, PLLC, appellants in the Court 

of Appeals and defendants in the trial court. Respondent 

Nasra Elmi obtained cosmetic surgery from Dr. Brecht, 

then sued for medical negligence, lack of informed consent, 

breach of promise, and violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act. A jury found for Elmi on all claims, 

awarding her and her husband $13 million. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals' 

unpublished July 21, 2025, decision affirming the final 

judgment. (App. A) 1 The Court of Appeals denied 

petitioners' timely motion for publication on August 26, 

2025. (App. B) 

1 This petition cites the slip opinion as "Op. _." 

1 



III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict 

with precedent and present an issue of public importance 

because it defies the harmless error standard by ignoring 

whether it is reasonably probable that inadmissible 

evidence materially affected the verdict? 

2. Does the Court of Appeals decision conflict 

with precedent and present an issue of public importance 

because it affirms the trial court's decision to admit 

prejudicial anesthesia evidence as relevant to respondents' 

informed consent claim, even though anesthesia caused no 

injury? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. N asra Elmi sought cosmetic surgery from Dr. 
Kristine Brecht. 

On August 1, 2020, respondents Nasra Elmi and her 

husband, Robert Blanton, attended a consultation with Dr. 

Brecht for cosmetic surgery. (Op. 2) Dr. Brecht and Elmi 

discussed a tummy tuck, arm lift, breast lift, and 
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liposuction. (Op. 2; OCR 982-85, 996-99) 2 Dr. Brecht 

explained the procedures' associated risks and provided 

consent forms. (RJW 880-82; OCR 756-58, 990-94) 

Elmi signed all of the consent forms (OCR 1021; Ex. 

263 at 39-63), declaring that "all possible risks and 

complications and alternative treatments" had "thoroughly 

been explained" and acknowledging, among other risks, 

the risks of "external scarring," "delayed wound healing," 

and "keloid formation or permanent skin pigmentation 

change[.]" (Ex. 263 at 40, 48-52; OCR 1024-30) 

Dr. Brecht uses a combination of local anesthesia 

injections and oral sedation rather than general anesthesia 

delivered intravenously. (OCR 695-96, 980-81; Op. 2) Elmi 

signed a consent form authorizing the use of local 

2 Different transcriptionists produced two reports of 
proceedings that are not consecutively paginated. This 
petition cites to the Reed Jackson Watkins transcript (July 
11-24 & September 22, 2023) as "RJW," and the Official 
Court Reporter transcript (July 25-August 4, 2023) as 
"OCR." 
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anesthesia and acknowledging the risks. (Ex. 263 at 42, 46-

47; OCR 1027-28) 

Dr. Brecht performed two surgeries on Elmi. On 

September 1, 2020, Dr. Brecht performed an 

abdominoplasty and liposuction. (Op. 2) A week later, Dr. 

Brecht performed an arm lift, breast lift, and additional 

liposuction. (Op. 2) 

Elmi attended follow-up appointments with Dr. 

Brecht for five months; Dr. Brecht monitored Elmi's 

healing progress and prescribed antibiotics to treat 

infection. (Ex. 205 at 1-5; OCR 1102-05) 

B. Dr. Brecht stipulated to unprofessional 
conduct-unrelated to Elmi's treatment­
before the Washington Medical Commission. 

In August 2021, Dr. Brecht entered a stipulated order 

with the Washington Medical Commission (WMC), 

agreeing that she committed "unprofessional conduct" 

under RCW 18.130.180(4) in treating nine patients 

between 2014 and 2019. (Op. 3; CP 88-111) Only four 
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patients described in the order received cosmetic surgery. 

(CP 89-101) The order criticizes Dr. Brecht's decision to 

forgo intravenous sedation or general anesthesia and states 

that Dr. Brecht had inadequate monitoring and discharge 

procedures following surgery. (CP 97-101) 

The WMC order is unrelated to Elmi's treatment. 

(Op. 3) 

C. Based on respondents' representation Dr. 
Brecht's anesthesia method injured Elmi, the 
trial court admitted professional discipline 
evidence, rejecting Dr. Brecht's objection 
under ER 404(b ). 

Elmi sued Dr. Brecht, alleging she committed 

medical negligence in conducting the pre-surgical 

screening and in administering anesthesia. (CP 13-15, 21) 

Elmi also alleged Dr. Brecht failed to inform her of the risks 

from anesthesia, breached promises regarding surgery 

results, and violated the Consumer Protection Act. ( Op. 3; 

CP 4-23) From the beginning, Elmi alleged the standard of 

care violations were no different than "the violations to 
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which [Dr. Brecht] admitted during the WMC 

investigation." (CP 21) 

Throughout the nine-day jury trial, respondents 

relied heavily on prior conduct evidence, especially Dr. 

Brecht's use of anesthesia with previous patients. The trial 

court acknowledged this evidence is inherently prejudicial 

but admitted it anyway-over Dr. Brecht's repeated 

objections-based on respondents' representation that 

anesthesia caused post-surgical injury, such as memory 

loss from oversedation. (RJW 289-90, 298-99; see also 

RJW 464) 

1. TheWMCorder. 

Before trial, Dr. Brecht moved to exclude 

professional discipline evidence (CP 45-57), arguing it was 

"unrelated" to Elmi's treatment and encouraged the 

"improper implication" that Elmi's alleged injuries 

resulted from a propensity for negligence. (CP 56) 

Respondents argued the evidence proved "Dr. Brecht 
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routinely practices below the standard of care" and that 

"[t]hese patterns" established liability. (CP 233; see RJW 

338: arguing WMC order proved "violations of the 

standard of care were a key aspect of how Dr. Brecht did 

business" and that "[s]he operated under the standard of 

care every time she touched a patient.") 

Despite "concerns" regarding this evidence (RJW 

170), the trial court reasoned it was admissible under ER 

404(b) to show Dr. Brecht's method for "sedating people" -

"the way she does it all the time." (RJW 464) The trial court 

admitted the WMC order with redactions, leaving only the 

information about the four surgical patients. ( Compare CP 

88-111, with Ex. 261; RJW 466-72) The trial court 

confirmed that "the purpose[ ] of [the WMC order] is to 

show . . .  that [Dr. Brecht] did the same darn thing that she 

did here. That's the whole point. Right?" Respondents 

agreed. (RJW 4 71) 
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2. RCW 18.130.180(4). 

When the trial began, respondents introduced the 

text of RCW 18.130.180 (RJW 578-80), the statute 

referenced in the WMC order (CP 101) which defines 

unprofessional conduct to include "[i]ncompetence, 

negligence, or malpractice[.]" RCW 18.130.180(4). 

The trial court initially stated that jurors would be 

"confused" and "assume" the statute "means she's 

essentially admitting negligence in this case," but 

suggested a limiting instruction. (RJW 591) The trial court 

later admitted the text of the statute over Dr. Brecht's 

objection. (See RJW 582, 687, 690-91) 

Respondents called Dr. Brecht as their first witness 

and asked her to read RCW 18.130.180(4) and the WMC 

order's findings regarding treatment of four surgical 

patients, including anesthesia methods. (RJW 834-45) 

They also asked whether Elmi received the same treatment 

(RJW 834-45), emphasizing that Dr. Brecht "kept doing all 
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of these things" she "agreed . . . were incompetent, 

negligent or malpractice" under the WMC order. (RJW 

845) Respondents also highlighted this evidence during 

their cross-examination of Dr. Brecht's cosmetic surgery 

expert. (OCR 233: "she had agreed that she had been 

incompetent, committed malpractice, or been negligent in 

the care of her patients; right?"; see OCR 231-36) 

3. WMC Staff Attorney Kyle Karinen's 
video deposition. 

The respondents introduced a video deposition from 

WMC staff attorney Kyle Karinen. (RJW 895) Despite 

recognizing that Karinen "has no personal knowledge of 

this case" (RJW 328), the trial court allowed the jury to 

consider his deposition testimony addressing the WMC 

order. (RJW 894) 

Karinen acknowledged he had "no medical training" 

and could not testify to "the specific standard of care" at 

issue. (CP 1295) He nonetheless told the jury that, from a 
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"bigger picture perspective . . .  there were serious questions 

about Dr. Brecht's judgment, her clinical judgment"; that 

"there was a common theme that Dr. Brecht was not 

particularly adept or didn't take the time to properly 

examine patients [or] take a full history"; and that "a good 

number of' patients had difficulty "with the anesthesia and 

postsurgical recovery." (CP 1293-95) 

4. Former patient testimony. 

Dr. Brecht sought to exclude testimony from former 

patient Stephanie Kadis-Fisher under ER 404(b) because 

she knew nothing about Elmi's treatment. (RJW 388-92) 

The trial court admitted Kadis-Fisher's testimony but 

stated it should "be very narrow'' and focus solely on Dr. 

Brecht's statements during the consent process. (RJW 396) 

The trial court stressed that "we're not getting into the 

results" of Kadis-Fisher's treatment so "don't talk about 

scarring[.]" (RJW 395-96) Respondents assured the trial 

court would not "talk about her scarring." (RJW 395; see 
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RJW 390: "we do not intend [to ask,] isn't it true that you 

also had a horrible outcome?") 

D. Respondents' counsel violated the trial 
court's pretrial orders regarding the WMC 
order and Kodis-Fisher's testimony. 

The trial court redacted information regarding five 

patients in the WMC order, leaving only the four surgical 

patients. (Ex. 261 at 10-15; RJW 466-72) In questioning Dr. 

Brecht, respondents' counsel revealed to the jury-over Dr. 

Brecht's objection-that there were "nine patients" in the 

WMC order. (RJW 845-46) The trial court found that 

respondents violated its pre-trial redactions by asking "if 

there was more than four patients" in the WMC order but 

nevertheless denied Dr. Brecht's motion for a mistrial, 

providing a limiting instruction instead. (See RJW 852-56) 

Kadis-Fisher testified the same day. Despite assuring 

the trial court twice they would not ask about scarring­

pre-trial and before Kadis-Fisher testified (RJW 395-96, 

778)-respondents' counsel asked if Kadis-Fisher's "scars 
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[are] consistent with how [Dr. Brecht] described [them] 

before surgery[?]" (RJW 902) The trial court admonished 

respondents' counsel but again denied Dr. Brecht's 

renewed motion for a mistrial, reasoning that an 

"unanswered question . . . is not worthy of a mistrial" and 

provided another limiting instruction. (RJW 902-09) 

E. After admission of the professional discipline 
evidence and expert testimony that Dr. 
Brecht's anesthesia method was "absolutely 
horrifying," respondents conceded that 
anesthesia caused no injury. 

Before trial Dr. Brecht sought to exclude 

respondents' anesthesiology expert Dr. Harold Brandford 

because he admitted anesthesia "had nothing to do with 

[the] surgical outcome[.]" (CP 147-50, 155-57; RJW 287-

99) The trial court overruled this objection based on 

respondents' representation that Dr. Brandford would 

testify the anesthesia "violat[ed] the standard of care [and] 

caused a compensable injury[.]" (CP 471; RJW 289-90, 

293) 
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Just before Dr. Brandford testified, respondents 

confirmed "[t]here is an issue as to [Elmi] sustaining an 

injury from the medication administered." (RJW 943) Dr. 

Brandford then testified Dr. Brecht's anesthesia method 

was "absolutely horrifying" and an extraordinary violation 

of the standard of care. (OCR 28; see generally RJW 984-

1008; OCR 6-16; Reply Br. 35-36) Dr. Brecht did not object 

because the trial court had overruled her prior objection. 

(See CP 707) 

After Dr. Brecht asked Dr. Brandford on cross 

examination if Elmi had suffered any anesthesia-related 

injuries, respondents objected that Dr. Brandford was "not 

here to . . .  provide causation" testimony. (OCR 58-60) In 

the ensuing colloquy, respondents conceded-contrary to 

their representations before trial and immediately before 

Dr. Brandford testified-that "we don't really have any 

causation" on anesthesia, "so we brought an informed 

13 



consent claim." (OCR 64; see CP 470; RJW 288-90, 942-

43) 

The trial court recognized that Dr. Brandford's 

testimony misled the jury. (OCR 62; OCR 64: absent expert 

testimony establishing causation "the standard of care [for 

sedation] is irrelevant[.]") But the trial court denied Dr. 

Brecht's renewed motion for mistrial (OCR 67-68), 

instructing the jury to "disregard" Dr. Brandford's 

anesthesia testimony "as it relates to standard of care 

and/or proximate cause[.]" (OCR 79-80) 

This instruction proved ineffective; the next week, a 

juror submitted a question regarding "the standard of care" 

for taking vitals during a procedure. (OCR 901) The trial 

court again instructed the jury to disregard any testimony 

addressing "the standard of care and/or proximate cause" 

for anesthesia. (OCR 919) The respondents ultimately 

dismissed their medical negligence claim regarding 

anesthesia. ( CP 800-01) 
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F. The respondents focused on Dr. Brecht's 
prior conduct in closing argument. 

During closing argument, respondents argued Dr. 

Brecht's prior conduct "taught you . . .  who Dr. Brecht, is, 

how she practices, and how she harms" and that it was 

"strong evidence" the "same practices occurred" here. 

(OCR 1219; see also OCR 1219: "[T]he question for you is 

. . .  did Dr. Brecht just get it right that day, or was it 

business as usual?") The jury found in respondents' favor 

on all claims, awarding them over $13 million-$3 million 

more than they requested. (Op. 7; OCR 1243) 

G. Division One held the prior conduct evidence 
was harmless and that the anesthesia 
evidence was relevant to Elmi's informed 
consent claim. 

In affirming, Division One failed to consider the 

prejudicial impact of the prior conduct evidence itself, 

holding that even if the evidence was inadmissible under 

ER 404(b), "the error was harmless considering the 

evidence as a whole." (Op. 12) The court further held-

15 



despite respondents' concession that anesthesia caused no 

injury-that Dr. Brandford's anesthesia testimony was 

relevant to Elmi's informed consent claim and that Elmi 

was not required to "show the undisclosed risk caused 

harm" to prove causation. (Op. 17) Instead, the court held 

that the causation element required only that Elmi show 

that "she would not have consented to the surgery" "had 

she been adequately informed of the risks" and that the 

surgery caused her injury. (Op. 17) 

V. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW 

A. This Court should accept review because the 
Court of Appeals' harmless error holding 
conflicts with Washington precedent and 
involves an issue of substantial public 
interest. 

The decision warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-

(2) because precedent requires courts to consider both the 

prejudicial impact of erroneously admitted evidence and 

properly admitted evidence in assessing harmless error. 

The Court of Appeals' confusion regarding harmless error 
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analysis-an issue affecting both civil and criminal cases­

also raises an issue of substantial public interest under 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

1. The Court of Appeals erred by not 
considering whether inherently 
prejudicial prior conduct evidence 
tainted the jury's consideration of 
admissible evidence. 

In civil and criminal cases, Washington courts apply 

the "materially affected" standard to determine whether an 

evidentiary error was harmless. Dependency of A.C., 1 

Wn.3d 186, 194, ,r23, 525 P.3d 177 (2023). This standard 

asks whether, "within reasonable probabilities, the 

outcome of the trial would have been materially affected 

had the error not occurred." A.C., 1 Wn.3d at 194, ,r23 

( quoted source omitted). 

The materially affected standard is not the same as 

substantial evidence review. Rather, there is a "striking 

difference between appellate review to determine whether 

an error affected a judgment and . . .  appellate review to 
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determine whether there is substantial evidence to support 

a judgment."' A.C., 1 Wn.3d at 193, 121 (quoted source 

omitted). While the substantial evidence standard asks 

"whether enough evidence support[ ed] the result," the 

materially affected standard "focuses on the prejudicial 

effect of a trial court's error." A.C., 1 Wn.3d at 195, 1125-26 

(internal quote omitted). 

Thus, in determining whether an evidentiary error 

was harmless, an appellate court cannot simply view 

admissible evidence in a vacuum but must consider 

whether "[t]he taint of the improperly relied on" evidence 

"affected the [factfinder's] view of all the admissible 

evidence." A.C., 1 Wn.3d at 197, 1129-30; State v. 

Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997) 

("[W]e measure the admissible evidence of Bourgeois's 

guilt against the prejudice, if any, caused by the 

inadmissible testimony.") (emphasis added); State v. 

Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014) 
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(reversing conviction due to "highly prejudicial evidence of 

Gunderson's past violence," even though admissible 

evidence "may be sufficient" to convict); State v. Gresham, 

173 Wn.2d 405, 433, 269 P.3d 207 (2012) (reversing due to 

"highly prejudicial" prior conduct evidence even though 

evidence was "by no means insufficient for a jury to 

convict"). 

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with these 

cases because it never analyzed the prejudice caused by the 

prior conduct evidence and instead relied only on the other 

evidence to hold that any evidentiary error was harmless. 

(Op. 12-14) Simply put, the court could not determine that 

"the challenged evidence is of minor significance 

considering the evidence as a whole" (Op. 14) (emphasis 

added), without considering all of the evidence, including 

the prior conduct evidence that was highly prejudicial for 

at least five reasons. 
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First, prior conduct evidence 1s inherently 

prejudicial. It invites juries to find against a defendant "not 

on the strength of evidence supporting the current charge," 

but by "overrel[ying] on past acts as evidence of his 

character and propensities." State v. Slocum, 183 Wn. App. 

438, 442, ,r1, 333 P.3d 541 (2014).3 This prejudice is 

especially acute in medical malpractice trials, where the 

standard of care is based on "a reasonably prudent health 

care provider" "acting in the same or similar 

circumstances. "  RCW 7.70.040(1)(a) (emphasis added); 

Seybold v. Neu, 105 Wn. App. 666, 677, 19 P.3d 1068 

(2001) (standard of care evidence must be "based on the 

facts in the case"); Rives v. Farris, 138 Nev. 138, 145, 506 

P.3d 1064 (2022) (prior medical malpractice evidence 

inadmissible because it "arises from a different surgery on 

3 Washington courts apply ER 404(b) in civil cases in 
a manner that "parallel[s] the results in criminal cases." 
Karl B. Tegland, 5 Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice 
§404.14 (6th ed.). 
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a different patient on a different day with different 

consequences."). 

As one court put it: "[We] cannot conceive of a more 

damaging event, in a medical malpractice trial, than 

[disclosing] that the defendant doctor had previously been 

sued multiple times for malpractice." Lai v. Slagle, 373 Md. 

306, 818 A.2d 237, 247 (2003) (quoted source omitted); 

see also 1 McCormick On Evid., §189 {8th ed. 2022) ("a 

similarly botched surgery on another patient is not 

admissible to show that a surgeon was negligent 1n 

performing the surgery on the plaintiff[.]"); Karl B. 

Tegland, 5 Wash. Prac., Evidence Law and Practice 

§404.14 ( 6th ed.) ("a party's prior acts of negligence or 

misconduct are not admissible to demonstrate that party's 

general propensity for negligence or misconduct"). 

This inherent prejudice was even greater here 

because the prior conduct evidence was not relevant to any 

of respondents' claims. The trial court admitted the prior 
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conduct evidence based on respondents' representation 

that Dr. Brecht's anesthesia method caused injury. (RJW 

289-90, 298-99, 464) But respondents later conceded that 

anesthesia caused no injury (OCR 64), and thus the prior 

conduct evidence was irrelevant to their malpractice and 

informed consent claims. (See § V.B, infra; Reply Br. 38-

42) 

Second, respondents urged the jury to draw the exact 

inference prohibited by ER 404(b)-that Dr. Brecht's past 

negligence proves she was negligent here. They argued the 

prior conduct evidence "taught you . . .  who Dr. Brecht is, 

how she practices, and how she harms" and that it was 

"strong evidence . . .  these same practices occurred" during 

Elmi's treatment. (OCR 1218-19; see OCR 1219: "[T]he 

question [is] did Dr. Brecht just get it right that day, or was 

it business as usual?") ( emphasis added) 

Even the trial court recognized "the whole point" was 

"to show [Dr. Brecht] did the same darn thing" in other 
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cases "that she did here." (RJW 471; see RJW 591: "the 

jurors are going to be confused" and "assume that her 

admission" to unprofessional conduct "means she's 

essentially admitting negligence in this case") 

"No greater showing of prejudice" is possible than 

when-as here-an "incorrect statement was actively urged 

upon the jury during closing argument." See Anfinson v. 

FedEx Ground Package Sys.} Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851, 876, 

145, 281 P.3d 289 (2012); City of Seattle v. Pearson, 192 

Wn. App. 802, 819, ,J26, 369 P.3d 194 (2016) (evidentiary 

error was not harmless where prosecutor "emphasized 

[inadmissible evidence] in its closing argument"); State v. 

Bartch, 28 Wn. App. 2d 564, 576, ,J22, 537 P.3d 1091 

(2023) (prior conduct evidence prejudicial because "[t]he 

State asked the jury to particularly rely on the other acts 

evidence"), rev. denied, 2 Wn.3d 1026 (2024). 

Third, respondents believed that "credibility was 

central to the outcome of the case" (Resp. Br. 50, quoted 
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source omitted); and they used the evidence to undermine 

the credibility of both Dr. Brecht and her surgery expert 

(RJW 834-46; OCR 231-36)4 "Washington courts have 

held that erroneously admitted evidence cannot be 

harmless in cases that are credibility contests." State v. 

Bellerouche, 33 Wn. App. 2d 877, 971, ,r233, 565 P.3d 604 

(2025) (Coburn, J., dissenting) (listing cases). The 

prejudicial impact of the WMC order and Karinen's 

"expert" testimony was especially significant because they 

were cloaked in the legitimacy of a government agency. See 

State v. Lord, 161 Wn.2d 276, 279, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007) 

("The special influence of the imprimatur of the State is 

often troubling"). 

4 Respondents' counsel exacerbated this prejudice 
with their misconduct, especially by disclosing that the 
WMC order addressed another five patients, which 
violated the pre-trial order redacting non-surgical patients. 
(See RJW 845-46) 
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Fourth, the jury asked about the standard of care for 

checking vitals during a procedure-a focus of the WMC 

order (OCR 901)-revealing the trial court's instructions 

were ineffective. See State v. Sanjurjo-Bloom, 16 Wn. App. 

2d 120, 127-28, 121, 479 P.3d 1195 (2021) Gury question 

"evidenced some likelihood that it was considering [the 

defendant's] apparent prior criminal acts to determine if 

he committed the crime charged here"). 

Fifth, the jury awarded the respondents $13 million, 

$3 million more than the $10 million they requested. 

( Compare OCR 1243, with CP 882); cf Henderson v. 

Thompson, 200 Wn.2d 417, 422, 129, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022) 

(noting "jury's astonishingly small award" when discussing 

impact of defense comments invoking racial bias); see also 

John Campbell, et. al, Time Is Money: An Empirical 

Assessment of Non-Economic Damages Arguments, 95 

Wash. U.L. Rev. 1, 15-16 (2017) ("[D]amage awards will 

generally vary with the strength of the liability evidence 

25 



against the defendant, and not solely as a function of the 

plaintiffs loss"). Even if the evidence did not materially 

affect the jury's liability finding, an additional $3 million in 

damages is unquestionably a material effect on the 

outcome. 

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming admission 

of prior act evidence without any consideration of how the 

evidence prejudiced Dr. Brecht conflicts with the cases 

above, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). 

2. The Court of Appeals' harmless error 
analysis raises an issue of substantial 
public interest. 

Because the materially affected standard applies in 

both civil and criminal cases, it is a profoundly important 

issue to Washington jurisprudence. Writing separately in 

A.C., Justice Madsen correctly observed that "Washington 

courts have struggled with harmless error . . .  for decades." 

1 Wn.3d at 202, ,J42. 
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This struggle continues, as demonstrated by cases 

like this one, where the Court of Appeals misapplied the 

materially affected standard by focusing only on properly 

admitted evidence, effectively applying a substantial 

evidence standard instead. See) e.g., Dependency of R.D., 

27 Wn. App. 2d 219, 229-30, 1126-27, 532 P.3d 201 (2023) 

(evidentiary error harmless because properly admitted 

evidence "provided sufficient evidence") (citing A.C., 1 

Wn.3d at 195); Bellerouche, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 971-72, 1234 

(Coburn, J., dissenting) (criticizing majority because 

harmless error "is not based on the jury otherwise having 

sufficient evidence to convict"); State v. Milliron, No. 

59100-6-II, 2025 WL 1043011 (Apr. 8, 2025) 

(unpublished, cited per GR 14.1) (evidentiary error 

harmless because "the jury could have found" guilt based 

on admissible "evidence alone"), rev. denied, 2025 WL 

2542190 (2025). This Court should accept review and 

clarify the materially affected standard. 
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B. The Court of Appeals' holding that the 
respondents did not need to prove anesthesia 
caused any harm to establish their informed 
consent claim conflicts with its own 
precedent and national consensus. 

The Court of Appeals excused respondents' flagrant 

bait-and-switchs regarding whether they could prove 

anesthesia caused any injury by holding that evidence 

regarding anesthesia-though undisputedly irrelevant to 

respondents' malpractice claim-was still relevant to their 

informed consent claim. (Op. 14-17) Division One reasoned 

respondents did not need to show "the undisclosed risk 

[from anesthesia] caused harm" to sustain an informed 

consent claim. (Op. 17) This contradicts published Court of 

s Division One ignored Dr. Brecht's argument that 
respondents committed misconduct by misrepresenting 
their anesthesia claim, holding Dr. Brecht did not preserve 
the issue. (Op. 17, n-4) This contradicts RAP 2.5(a). The 
trial court allowed Dr. Brecht to incorporate the anesthesia 
issue into her pending motion for mistrial, and she cited 
denial of that motion as grounds for a new trial. (OCR 64-
69; CP 705-09, 892) Dr. Brecht assigned error to both the 
denial of mistrial and denial of her new trial motion. (App. 
Br. 3-4) 
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Appeals authority and the overwhelming national 

consensus. See RAP 13.4(b)(2), (4). 

Washington courts have held that proximate cause 

for informed consent requires evidence that "adequate 

disclosure could reasonably be expected to have caused the 

patient to decline the treatment or procedure because of 

revelation of the kind of risk or danger which resulted in 

her harm." Holt v. Nelson, 11 Wn. App. 230, 236-37, 523 

P.2d 211 (emphasis added) (1974); see also Smith v. 

Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 34, 666 P.2d 351 (1983) (plaintiff 

must show "the existence of a risk, its likelihood of 

occurrence, and the type of harm in question.") (emphasis 

added). 

For example, in Brown v. Dahl, 41 Wn. App. 565, 705 

P.2d 781 (1985), a surgery patient received general 

anesthesia, causing a blocked airway, cardiac arrest, and 

"significant mental and physical impairments." 41 Wn. 

App. at 567-68. Division Two reversed dismissal of the 
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informed consent claim because expert testimony 

established that "blocked aiiways, respiratory problems, 

cardiac arrest, and brain damage are risks associated with 

general anesthesia" that the defendant's consent form 

omitted. 41 Wn. App. at 571-72. 

Similarly, in Villanueva v. Harrington, So Wn. App. 

36, 906 P.2d 374 (1995), parents sued an obstetrician when 

their son developed a cephalhematoma and passed away 

after a forceps delivery, claiming the obstetrician failed to 

inform them of the risks associated with forceps; the trial 

court dismissed the informed consent claim on summary 

judgment. So Wn. App. at 37-38. Division Three reversed, 

rejecting the obstetrician's claim that the parents failed to 

prove that forceps proximately caused the injury, noting 

expert testimony showing the death resulted from "a 

cephalhematoma" caused by "the application of forceps." 

So Wn. App. at 40-41. 
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Brown and Villanueva confirm that an informed 

consent claim requires evidence that the plaintiff was 

injured by the specific risk the defendant physician failed 

to disclose. Here, the court relieved the respondents of that 

burden by holding the anesthesia evidence was relevant to 

the respondents informed consent claim even though 

anesthesia undisputedly caused no injury. This conflict 

warrants this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

The Court of Appeals' informed consent holding also 

raises an issue of substantial public interest because it 

conflicts with the widely recognized rule that "[t]o 

constitute actionable harm for failure to disclose a 

particular risk, the harm suffered must arise from the risk 

that . . . was not, or was inadequately, disclosed." 

Restatement (Third) of Torts: Medical Malpractice §13 TD 

No.2, comment f (2024); Cochran v. Wyeth
) 

Inc.
) 

3 A.3d 

673, 679-80, ,r,r26-28 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2010) (it is "well­

established and without debate that the non-disclosed risk 
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must manifest itself into actual injury in order for a 

plaintiff to establish proximate causation.") (listing 

authorities). 6 

This rule furthers the principle that "[n]egligence 

and informed consent are alternative methods of imposing 

liability on a healthcare practitioner" that generally cannot 

be "predicated on the same facts." Davies v. MultiCare 

Health Sys. ,  199 Wn.2d 608, 619, ,r24, 510 P.3d 346 (2022) 

(quoted source omitted). Otherwise, informed consent 

would converge with medical negligence and plaintiffs 

would simply recast purported standard of care violations 

6 See also Canterbury v. Spence, 464 F.2d 772, 790 
(D.C. Cir. 1972); Greene v. Thiet, 846 S.W.2d 26, 33-34 
(Tex. App. 1992); Davis v. Kraff, 405 Ill. App. 3d 20, 30-
32, 937 N.E.2d 306, 316-17 (2010); Thomas v. Anderson, 
997 So.2d 729, 731-32 (La. Ct. App. 2008); Foster v. Traul, 
145 Idaho 24, 31, 175 P.3d 186, 193 (2007); Canesi ex. rel. 
v. Wilson, 158 N.J. 490, 505, 730 A.2d 805, 812 (1999); 
KA.C. v. Benson, 527 N.W.2d 553, 561-62 (Minn. 1995); 
Smith v. Cotter, 107 Nev. 267, 274, 810 P.2d 1204, 1209 
(1991). 
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under RCW 7. 70.040(1) as undisclosed material risks 

"relating to treatment" under RCW 7.70.050(1). 

For example, consider a surgeon who informs a 

patient "about the risk of significant scarring" but "neglects 

to mention a common risk of infection"; the procedure 

results in "an unsightly scar, but it otherwise goes well, 

with no infection." Restatement, supra, Illustration 8. In 

other jurisdictions, the surgeon would not be liable 

"because the harm . . .  is not related to a risk [the surgeon] 

failed to disclose." Restatement, supra, Illustration 8. 

For the first time, Washington has diverged from this 

consensus. Under Division One's reasoning, that surgeon 

would be liable for failing to secure informed consent so 

long as the patient could show that "she would not have 

consented to the surgery" had she known about the 

undisclosed, unmaterialized risk "and it was the surgery 

that caused her injury." (Op. 17) This reasoning effectively 

makes healthcare providers liable for any adverse outcome 
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when they fail to disclose a single risk-even if that risk 

never materializes-contrary to the "universally recognized 

principle[]" that "[a] poor medical result is not, in itself, 

evidence of any wrongdoing by the doctor." Watson v. 

Hockett, 107 Wn.2d 158, 163-64, 727 P.2d 669 (1986). 

Division One suggested its reasoning is consistent 

with Backlund v. Univ. of Wash., 137 Wn.2d 651, 975 P.2d 

950 (1999). (Op. 17) But Backlund involved a physician's 

failure to inform the plaintiffs about an alternative 

treatment-specifically, a blood transfusion rather than 

phototherapy, which resulted in injury. See 137 Wn.2d at 

654-55; see Restatement, supra, comment f 

(distinguishing claims where a provider "fail[s] to disclose 

a treatment alternative" from claims where "a patient's 

injury arises from a specific undisclosed risk."). In 

contrast, respondents alleged that Dr. Brecht failed to 

inform Elmi about the risk of the anesthesia method used 

during surgery. 
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By adopting a novel causation standard for informed 

consent claims, Division One's decision defies the national 

consensus and conflicts with Brown and Villanueva. This 

Court should accept review. RAP 13 ♦4(b)(2), (4). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons discussed above, this Court should 

accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4). 

I certify that this petition is in 14-point Georgia font 

and contains 5,000 words, in compliance with the Rules 

of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b). 

Dated this 25th day of September, 2025. 
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Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

NASRA ELM I and ROBERT 
BLANTON ,  husband and wife ,  

Respondents , 

V .  

AESTH ETIC  REJ UVENATION SPA, 
PLLC,  a Wash i ngton profess iona l  
l im ited l iab i l ity company; and 
KRISTI N E  BRECHT, M . D . ,  i nd ivid ua l ly ,  

A e l lants . 

No .  8585 1 -3- 1 

D IVIS ION ONE  

U N P U BL ISHED OP IN ION 

MANN ,  J .  - Aesthetic Rej uvenation Spa  (ARS) and  Dr .  Krist ine Brecht 

(co l lective ly Dr. Brecht) appeal a j u ry verd ict in favor of Nasra E lm i  and her husband 

Robert B lanton on c la ims aris ing from cosmetic su rg ica l p roced u res performed by Dr .  

Brecht on E lm i .  Dr .  Brecht argues the tria l  cou rt erred by ( 1 ) adm itt ing certa i n  evidence 

under ER 404(b) , (2) denying her motion for a m istria l ,  (3) denying her mot ion for a new 

tria l ,  and (4) denying her mot ion for judgment as a matter of law. We affi rm . 

A 

Dr .  Brecht was a l icensed physic ian and surgeon who was board certified i n  

fam i ly med icine .  She  was the  sole owner and  operator of ARS located i n  Bu rien , 

App. A 
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Washington. Dr. Brecht performed both surgical and nonsurgical procedures at ARS. 

Staff at ARS included a receptionist and medical assistants. 

Elmi was interested in getting cosmetic surgery and found Dr. Brecht on 

YouTube. Dr. Brecht talked about cosmetic surgical procedures she performs including 

arm lifts and tummy tucks. Elmi viewed photos on the ARS website of arms and 

stomachs showing small incisions. On August 1 ,  2020, Elmi saw Dr. Brecht for a 

consult to discuss getting a tummy tuck, liposuction, arm l ift, and breast lift. During the 

consult, Elmi disclosed her diabetes and that she was a smoker. Elmi also signed 

consent forms. 

Dr. Brecht performed two surgeries on Elmi with the aid of two medical 

assistants, Jackel ine Lopez and Maria Arce . Dr. Brecht performed an abdominoplasty 

and l iposuction on Elmi on September 1 ,  2020. Dr. Brecht performed an arm l ift, breast 

l ift, and liposuction on Elmi one week later on September 8. For both surgeries, Dr. 

Brecht used local anesthesia and oral sedation rather than general anesthesia. Elmi 

was instructed to take Ambien, oxycodone, Phenergan, and lorazepam prior to surgery 

and then during surgery she was given more oxycodone and lorazepam. Dr. Brecht did 

not establish intravenous access to Elmi during the surgeries. 

The incisions from the surgeries did not heal properly and kept opening. The 

incision on Elmi's left arm ran from her armpit to her elbow and opened twice in several 

places. After several follow up appointments, Dr. Brecht determined Elmi had an 

infection .  Elmi eventually stopped seeking treatment from Dr. Brecht. The surgeries 

and resulting scars and wounds required Elmi to seek ongoing treatment elsewhere. 
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B 

Unrelated to her treatment of Elmi ,  on August 4, 2021 , Dr. Brecht entered a 

stipulated order with the Washington Medical Commission (WMC). Dr. Brecht agreed in 

the order that she committed unprofessional conduct under RCW 1 8. 1 30 . 1 80(4) related 

to the treatment of nine patients. 

Also unrelated to her treatment of Elmi ,  on October 22, 2021 , Dr. Brecht entered 

a stipulated order with the Department of Health (DOH) where she agreed that between 

October 201 9 and January 2020 she performed cosmetic surgical procedures such as 

liposuction and arm lifts, and operated an ambulatory surgical facil ity without a license. 

As a result, Dr. Brecht was restricted from performing any procedures that required 

sedation and was prohibited from operating as an ambulatory surgical facility. 

C 

Elmi sued Dr. Brecht for medical negligence, lack of informed consent, breach of 

promise, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), ch . 1 9.86 RCW. Blanton 

also claimed future loss of consortium. Elmi sought damages, costs and treble 

damages under the CPA, attorney fees, and interest. 

Dr. Brecht moved in l imine to exclude evidence of or reference to the disciplinary 

proceedings before the WMC and the DOH as irrelevant to proving breach of the 

standard of care, as improper character evidence, and as cumulative evidence that 

would confuse the jury and be unfairly prejudicia l .  The trial court denied the motion to 

exclude the DOH order; the parties agreed to a redacted version of the order which was 

admitted as exhibit 260. The trial court also denied the motion to exclude the WMC 

order and determined it was admissible under ER 404(b) and relevant to the standard of 
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care and Dr. Brecht's way of treating patients. The parties agreed to a redacted version 

of the WMC order which was admitted as exhibit 261 . 

Dr. Brecht moved to exclude the standard of care testimony by Elmi's expert, 

board certified anesthesiologist, Dr. Harold Brandford. The trial court denied Dr. 

Brecht's motion as it related to the postsurgery standard of care. The court granted the 

motion as to care during surgery and invited Elmi to make an offer of proof for 

presurgery standard of care. Following cross-examination of Dr. Brandford, Elmi 

conceded there was no injury incurred as a result of Dr.  Brecht's sedation method and 

so Dr.  Brandford's testimony on the standard of care during surgery was irrelevant. The 

trial court instructed the jury as follows, "you have heard testimony from Dr. Brandford 

regarding violations of the standard of care. You are to disregard any testimony from 

Dr. Brandford as it relates to standard of care and/or proximate cause related to Dr. 

Brecht's sedation practices or methods of anesthesia." 

Dr.  Brecht also moved to exclude al l  expert testimony on material facts, including 

risks from diabetes, smoking, and scarring, that Elmi was not informed of prior to 

consenting to surgery. The trial court denied the motion. 

Dr. Brecht testified consistent with a general denial .  She confirmed that she was 

the decisionmaker for ARS marketing and used a process to get patients to agree to 

surgery that began with advertising. 

Elmi introduced testimony from Stephanie Kodis-Fisher, a former patient of Dr. 

Brecht, who had a similar surgery to Elmi .  The trial court determined that the testimony 

of Kodis-Fisher was l imited to oral statements by Dr. Brecht while going through 

consent forms. But Elmi's counsel asked Kodis-Fisher about her scars and Dr. Brecht 
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objected before Kodis-Fisher answered. The trial court instructed the jury that 

statements and questions of counsel are not evidence. 

Elmi testified that when she found Dr. Brecht on line she did not see many 

reviews for surgeries. She testified that at her first visit to ARS, Dr. Brecht presented 

herself as "the best" with the "best technology" and that she teaches people surgery. 

Elmi testified that Dr. Brecht "didn't say much" about smoking or diabetes and took her 

in l ike a "perfect candidate" for the surgery. Elmi testified that Dr. Brecht told her the 

scar from her tummy tuck would be thin and the she wouldn't even notice it. Elmi 

testified that Dr.  Brecht said it  was safe to get multiple surgeries a week apart because 

it was the best way to heal al l  at once and that it was safe. Dr. Brecht told Elmi that the 

healing process would take about two weeks. 

Elmi described going to her first surgery and arriving at ARS, but otherwise could 

not remember what happened. Elmi said she had no memory after the surgery until 

four or five days later. Elmi described arriving at ARS for her second surgery and that 

she was taken to a room and given medication after which she was told to sign a form . 

Elmi testified that in postsurgery fo llow-up appointments, Dr. Brecht said she was doing 

"amazing, beautifu l ,  everything looking good." Elmi described Dr. Brecht using tape on 

her wounds that would strip her skin off at each appointment. 

Elmi testified that after the second surgery she began to smell "funny" and that 

when she told Dr. Brecht her concerns, Dr. Brecht did not test her for infection .  Elmi 

said that eventually, after Blanton insisted ,  she was tested for infection and that test 

came back positive. Elmi testified that since the surgeries she cannot wear short sleeve 

clothing and that she hates how she looks. 
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Blanton testified that he did not remember Dr. Brecht disclosing the risks of 

surgery. He testified that Dr. Brecht did not discuss the additional risks of smoking and 

diabetes. Blanton also testified that he did not witness Elmi sign consent forms. 

The jury also heard from several experts including board certified cosmetic 

surgeon Dr. Elmer Mangubat and board certified plastic surgeons Dr. Paul Luu, Dr. 

Mark Mandell-Brown, and Dr. Adam Rubinste in .  

D 

On July 24, 2023, Dr. Brecht moved for mistrial under CR 59 asserting that Elmi's 

counsel violated the trial court's rulings on motions in l imine for the WMC order exhibit 

261 , and Kodis-Fisher's testimony. She also argued the admission of Dr. Brandford's 

testimony regarding the standard of care and anesthesia warranted a mistria l .  The trial 

court denied the motion. 

On July 27, 2023, Dr.  Brecht moved for judgment as a matter of law under CR 50 

on the CPA cla im.  Dr. Brecht also moved for partial directed verdict under CR 50 on the 

CPA cla im,  the medical negligence cla im,  and the breach of promise cla im.  

On August 3 ,  2023, the case was submitted to the jury and the trial court 

addressed the pending motions: 

The defense has made their record for their motions, but I see no benefit 
to my removing any of the claims that are in front of the jurors at this stage 
because, if I 'm wrong, the Court of Appeals says I was wrong to do so , 

then the whole case would have to be retried, especially at least as to that 
cla im,  and that to me seems like a horrible waste of resources for the 
parties. What's the difference between ruling now versus ruling after the 

jurors have reached a verdict and potentially setting aside that verdict, if I 
agreed with defense's position? So I 'm denying those motions without 
prejudice at this time, and they can be renewed as the rules allow 

fo llowing entry of the verdict. 
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On August 4 ,  2023 ,  the j u ry found i n  favor of E lm i  on a l l  c la ims .  The j u ry 

awarded $ 1 1 , 000 , 000 to E lm i  for past and futu re damages and $2 , 000 , 000 to B lanton 

for loss of consorti um .  The j u ry a lso determ ined the fi nancia l  loss under the CPA to be 

$34 , 1 86 .  On August 23 ,  2023 ,  the tria l  cou rt entered j udgment i n  the amount of 

$ 1 3 , 034 , 1 86 .  

On September 1 ,  2023 ,  D r .  Brecht moved for a new tria l  u nder CR 59(a) on 1 6  

g rounds i nc lud ing the vio lat ions of motions i n  l im ine ,  den ia l  of motions for m istria l , and 

denia l  of motions for d i rected verd ict .  Fol lowi ng a hearing , the tria l  cou rt den ied the 

motions based on a lack of evidence and insufficient argument .  

On September 25, 2023 ,  the tria l  cou rt entered fi nd ings of fact and conclus ions of 

law award ing fees and treb le damages and entered a supp lementa l judgment i n  the 

amount of $79 , 000 i n  attorney fees and $25 , 000 i n  treb le damages . 

Dr .  Brecht appeals .  

I I  

Dr.  Brecht argues the tria l  cou rt abused its d iscret ion by improperly adm itt ing 

evidence of prior conduct under ER 404(b) . Specifica l ly ,  she ass igns error to the 

adm ission of exh ib it 26 1 , the language of RCW 1 8 . 1 30 . 1 80(4) , and WMC representative 

Kyle Kari nen 's deposit ion test imony as evidence of Dr. Brecht's practice and the 

standard of care .  She also ass igns error to Kad is-F isher's test imony re lated to the 

consent forms .  We d isag ree . 

We review a tria l  cou rt's decis ion to adm it evidence under ER 404(b) for abuse of 

d iscretion .  Doe v. Corp .  of Pres ident of Church of Jesus Ch rist of Latter-Day Saints , 

1 4 1  Wn . App .  407 ,  1 67 P . 3d 1 1 93 (2007) (citi ng State v. Lough ,  1 25 Wn .2d 847 , 864-
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65 ,  889 P .2d 487 ( 1 995)) . "A tria l  cou rt abuses its d iscret ion if its decis ion is man ifestly 

un reasonable or based on untenable g rounds or untenable reasons . "  I n  re Marriage of 

L itt lefie ld , 1 33 Wn .2d 39 ,  46-47 ,  940 P .2d 1 362 ( 1 997) . "A court's decis ion is man ifestly 

un reasonable if it is outs ide the range of acceptable choices , g iven the facts and the 

app l icable lega l  standard ; it is based on untenable g rounds if the factual fi nd i ngs are 

unsupported by the record ; it is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an 

i ncorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requ i rements of the correct standard . "  

L itt lefie ld , 1 33 Wn .2d at 47 .  " If the tria l  cou rt's ru l i ng  is based on an erroneous view of 

the law or i nvo lves app l icat ion of an i ncorrect lega l  ana lys is it necessari ly abuses its 

d iscretion . "  D ix v. ICT Grp. I nc. , 1 60 Wn .2d 826 , 833 ,  1 6 1  P . 3d 1 0 1 6  (2007) . 

A 

The tria l  cou rt determ ined that exh ib it 26 1 wou ld be redacted to i ncl ude on ly the 

fou r  su rg ica l patients who underwent procedures s im i lar  to E lm i .  The tria l  cou rt then 

conducted the ER 404(b) ana lys is :  

The pu rpose for wh ich the evidence is sought is to show that th is is the 
way that-I mean , th is is, aga i n ,  the Dr .  Brecht way of sedati ng people ,  of 
perform ing these k inds of surgeries . So it goes to her preparation .  It goes 
to her p lan . I t  goes to any k ind of lack of m istake that she just d idn 't rea l ly 
understand . Oh ,  wait , I-for th is one t ime,  I had to do th is .  You know, th is 
is the way she does it a l l  the t ime.  

So I th i nk  it serves that pu rpose and it 's certa in ly-is re levant to prove an 
e lement here at issue ,  the standard of care and whether or  not she-her 
conduct was below the standard of care .  And the probative va lue is very 
h ig h .  It 's not unfa i rly p rejud icia l .  Aga i n ,  these are Dr .  Brecht's own 
adm iss ions .  So I th i nk  it satisfies that test . . .  for adm iss ib i l ity . 

E lm i  also sought to i ntrod uce RCW 1 8 . 1 30 . 1 80(4)-part of the statutory defi n it ion 

of unprofess ional  conduct for hea lth care profess ionals-for i l l ustrative pu rposes to he lp 
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the j u ry understand exh ib it 26 1 . 1 Dr.  Brecht objected on the g rounds that it wou ld 

confuse the j u ry .  The tria l  cou rt ru led that reference to the statute wou ld be redacted 

un less Dr .  Brecht provided a l im it ing instruction . The parties ag reed on a l im it ing 

instruct ion and RCW 1 8 . 1 30 . 1 80(4) was i ntrod uced for i l l ustrative pu rposes on ly .  The 

tria l  cou rt gave the fo l lowing instruction :  

Evidence on the subject of the content of the language of the statute 
referenced in Exh ib it 26 1 wi l l  now be i ntrod uced . You may consider th is 
evidence on ly to determ ine what Defendant Dr .  Brecht ag reed to i n  th is 
order and to understand her test imony i n  th is case regard i ng the ag reed 
order .  You are not to cons ider th is evidence for any other pu rpose . You 
are not to d iscuss th is evidence when you de l iberate i n  the j u ry room to 
determ ine the standard of care i n  th is case . 

Also re lated to exh ib it 26 1 , E lm i  i ntroduced the CR 30(b)(6) deposit ion of 

Karinen .  Before the deposit ion was p layed , the tria l  cou rt gave the fo l lowing instruct ion 

to the j u ry :  

Members of the j u ry ,  i n  th is deposit ion , evidence on the subject of the 
content of statute RCW 1 8 1 .30 . 1 80 subsect ion (4) wi l l  be presented . You 
may consider th is evidence on ly to determ ine the content of Dr .  Brecht's 
ag reed order with the Wash ington Med ical Comm iss ion . . .  and to 
understand this witness's test imony in this case regard i ng the ag reed 
order .  You are not to cons ider th is evidence for any other pu rpose . You 
are not to d iscuss th is evidence when you de l iberate i n  the j u ry room to 
determ ine the standard of care i n  th is case . 

Kari nen testified that the WMC oversees the profess ional  conduct of doctors and 

has the authority to take enforcement act ion i f  doctors vio late the U n iform D iscip l i nary 

Act , ch . 1 8 . 1 30 RCW. He testified that the WMC identified defic iencies i n  Dr .  Brecht's 

1 RCW 1 8 . 1 30 . 1 80(4) provides that the fo l lowing constitutes u n profess ional  conduct: 
I ncompetence, neg l igence ,  or malpractice which resu lts i n  i nj u ry to a patient or which creates an 

un reasonable r isk that a patient may be harmed . The use of a nontrad it iona l  treatment by itself sha l l  not 
constitute u n profess ional  conduct, provided that it does not resu l t  in i nj u ry to a pat ient or create an 
un reasonable r isk that a patient may be harmed . 
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treatment records and documentation of care and had overall concerns about her 

clinical judgment particularly when screening patients. He described the statute 

referred to in the order, RCW 1 8. 1 30 . 1 80(4), as the "standard of care subsection" and 

that it "involves the allegation of negligence and/or risk of harm to a patient by the 

conduct that's being described."  

The trial court also al lowed testimony of Kodis-Fisher about her experience with 

Dr. Brecht, finding that it was relevant and admissible: 

since it's not a prior bad act, I don't think 404 (b) necessarily applies. But 
even if 404(b) does, I think that it is admissible for purposes such as 

showing the preparation that Dr. Brecht does for performing any surgeries. 
This is how-this is her way of-of preparing with patients for what the 
procedure's going to be . 

The l imited parameters of the testimony that will be el icited from this 
witness, which I think is relevant, and I think it passes the 403 test. It's not 

unfairly prejudicia l .  It's probative, the kind of preparation for procedures 
that Dr. Brecht goes through with her patients. And this is someone that, 
you know, had that procedure right around the same time as Ms. Elmi ,  

and so I 'm going to allow it. 

Kodis-Fisher testified that the consent forms were hard to read and blurry and 

that no one went through the documents with her. She testified that Dr. Brecht did not 

go over the risks of surgery and that she described the surgery as routine with a simple 

incision that would leave minimal scarring. She described the medications she was 

instructed to take and that she had no memory of what happened after she arrived at 

the office. Kodis-Fisher testified that she was not clear on exactly what her surgery 

entailed or what was going to happen afterward. 
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B 

Evidence is re levant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that 

is of consequence to the determ inat ion of the act ion more probable or less probab le . "  

ER 40 1 . Relevant evidence is adm iss ib le except as  l im ited by  constitut ional  

requ i rements or as provided by statute , ru le ,  or  regu lation . ER 402 . "The th reshold to 

adm it re levant evidence is very low. Even m i n ima l ly re levant evidence is adm iss ib le . "  

State v .  Darden , 1 45 Wn .2d 6 1 2 ,  62 1 ,  4 1  P . 3d 1 1 89 (2002) . ER 404(b) bars evidence 

of other "crimes, wrongs ,  or  acts" to prove the character of a person to show act ion i n  

conform ity therewith , bu t  a l lows adm iss ion of such evidence for other pu rposes . Other 

pu rposes inc lude ,  but are not l im ited to "proof of motive , opportun ity ,  i ntent , p reparation ,  

p lan , knowledge ,  identity , or  absence of m istake or accident . " ER 404(b) . 

"An evident iary error which is not of constitut iona l  magn itude ,  such as erroneous 

adm ission of ER 404(b) evidence ,  requ i res reversa l  on ly if the error, with i n  reasonable 

probab i l ity ,  materia l ly affected the outcome . "  State v .  Everybodyta lksabout, 1 45 Wn .2d 

456 , 468-69 ,  39 P . 3d 294 (2002) (quoti ng State v .  Stenson ,  1 32 Wn .2d 668 ,  709 , 940 

P .2d 1 239 ( 1 997)) . "The error is ' not prejud ic ia l  u n less , with i n  reasonable probab i l it ies , 

the outcome of the tria l  wou ld have been materia l ly affected had the error not 

occu rred . "' Everybodyta lksabout, 1 45 Wn .2d at 469 (quoti ng State v. Bourgeo is ,  1 33 

Wn .2d 389 , 403 , 945 P .2d 1 1 20 ( 1 997)) . "The error is harm less if the evidence is of 

m i nor s ign ificance compared to the overa l l  evidence as a whole . "  Everybodyta lksabout, 

1 45 Wn .2d at 469. 
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Here, even if we agree with Dr. Brecht that admission of exhibit 261 , the statute, 

Karenin's testimony, and Kodis-Fisher's testimony was improper under ER 404(b), the 

error was harmless considering the evidence as a whole. 

The jury heard evidence that Dr.  Brecht breached the standard of care in several 

instances including approving Elmi for surgery without knowing her A1 C levels. Dr. 

Brecht testified that she did not document Elmi's A1 C during screening. Dr. Brecht 

testified that she did not test Elmi's A1 C because Elmi told her it was 7.4; but in 

deposition testimony Dr. Brecht said Elmi's A1 C was 1 0 . Dr. Brandford testified that 

normal A 1 C is in the range of "high five to six" and clearing a patient for anesthesia and 

surgery without knowing the patient's A 1 C is a breach of the standard of care. Dr. 

Mangubat testified that before surgery he determines whether a patient's A 1 C tends to 

be high. Dr. Rubenstein testified that based on Elmi's health and risk factors, she 

should not have been considered for surgery and Dr. Brecht lacked sufficient 

information to make the decision to proceed with surgery. 

The jury heard evidence that Dr. Brecht breached the standard of care by 

performing too many surgeries at once and closing incisions with too much tension. Dr. 

Rubenstein testified that it was an error in judgment to perform multiple surgeries at 

once considering Elmi was a poor candidate and particularly in combination with the 

large volume l iposuction and abdominoplasty. From his observations of Elmi's 

incisions, Dr. Rubenstein described the excessive tension and resulting necrosis 

caused by Dr. Brecht's fa i lure of technique and a cursory pre surgery marking of where 

to cut. Dr. Luu also testified that doing multiple surgeries at once, particularly 

l iposuction and a tummy tuck, increases the risk of necrosis. 
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Dr. Rubenste in testified that Dr. Brecht vio lated the standard of care by fai l ing to 

perform muscle plication for the tummy tuck and fa i l ing to achieve symmetry on the 

breast l ift. 

Dr. Rubenste in testified that Dr. Brecht vio lated the standard of care postsurgery 

by using tape repeatedly even when it was causing more trauma and fai l ing to offer 

medication to help with scarring. Dr. Rubenstein testified that Dr. Brecht violated the 

standard of care by waiting 1 0  days after noting an odor coming from the arm wound to 

test for infection .  

The jury heard evidence that Dr. Brecht fa iled to disclose material risks and 

violated the principles of informed consent. Dr. Brecht testified that the risks and 

benefits of treatment specific to Elmi were included on a "front page" that was 

referenced throughout the forms, or were conveyed to Elmi verbally. Dr. Brecht also 

testified that the "front page" was only to "go over that this is office space procedure 

under local anesthesia, and listing the surgeries." 

Dr. Rubenste in testified that the "front page" was not a consent form and that the 

absence of Dr. Brecht's signature ind icates "if it's not documented, it didn't happen." Dr. 

Rubenstein testified that Dr. Brecht's documentation and consent forms inadequately 

described and disclosed the data and risks particular to Elmi for smoking, diabetes and 

scarring, high body mass index, and high volume l iposuction .  Dr. Rubenstein testified 

that the consent forms provided to Elmi were not curated to her as shown by the 

irrelevant or missing information on specific procedures. 

Elmi testified that when she went to ARS for surgery she was given a "cocktail" of 

medication and then she was asked to sign forms. Medical assistant Lopez testified 
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that part of her job was to g ive patients the consent forms and that even though she 

s ig ned E lm i 's forms as a witness , Lopez d id not actua l ly witness Elmi s ign them . 

Based on the forego ing , the chal lenged evidence is of m i nor s ign ificance 

consider ing the evidence as a whole .  There is no reasonable probab i l ity that exh ib it 

26 1 , the statutory lang uage,  the test imony of Karinen ,  and the test imony of Kad is-F isher 

materia l ly affected the outcome of the tria l . Thus ,  any error i n  adm itti ng the evidence 

under ER 404(b) was harm less . 2 

1 1 1  

Dr.  Brecht argues the tria l  cou rt erred by denying the motion for m istria l  because 

of the adm ission of Dr .  Brandford 's  i rre levant test imony regard i ng anesthes ia .  Dr .  

Brecht briefly asserts that the test imony was i rre levant to the i nformed consent cla im . 

We d isag ree . 

We review a tria l  cou rt's decis ion to deny a m istria l  for abuse of d iscretion .  

He lmbreck v .  McPhee, 1 5  Wn . App .  2d 4 1 , 67 , 476 P . 3d 589 (2020) . "The tria l  cou rt 

shou ld g rant a m istria l  'on ly when noth ing the court can say or do wou ld remedy the 

harm caused by the i rregu larity or ,  i n  other words ,  when the harmed party has been so 

prejud iced that on ly a new tria l  can remedy the error . "' He lmbreck, 1 5  Wn . App .  2d at 

67-68 (quoting Kimba l l  v .  Otis E levator Co . , 89 Wn . App .  1 69 ,  1 78 ,  947 P .2d 1 275 

2 Dr. Brecht a lso argues the tria l  cou rt abused its d iscretion by adm itti ng exh ib it 260 under  ER 
404(b) .  D r .  Brecht moved to  exc lude a l l  " DOH/WMC evidence" under  ER 404(b) .  When objecti ng to 
exh ib it 260 specifica l ly ,  Dr . Brecht d id not argue  exclus ion based on ER 404(b) .  I n stead , Dr . Brecht 
objected to the evidence as i rre levant and cumu lative . " Even if an objection is made at tria l ,  a party may 
only ass ign error i n  the appel late cou rt on the specific g round of the evident iary objection made at tria l . "  
DeHaven v .  Gant , 42 Wn . App. 666 , 669, 7 1 3 P .2d 1 49 ( 1 986) . Accord i ng ly ,  we do not address whether 
the tria l  cou rt abused i ts d iscretion by adm itti ng exh ib it 260 under  404(b) .  RAP 2 . 5(a) ; Roberson v .  
Perez. 1 56 Wn .2d 33, 39, 1 23 P . 3d 844 (2005) .  

- 1 4-



No .  8585 1 -3- 1/1 5 

( 1 997)) . I n  determ in ing the effect of an i rregu larity ,  th is cou rt examines ( 1 ) its 

seriousness, (2) whether it i nvo lved cumu lative evidence ,  and (3) whether the tria l  cou rt 

properly instructed the j u ry to d isregard it .  He lmbreck, 1 5  Wn . App .  2d at 68 (citi ng 

State v .  Emery, 1 74 Wn .2d 74 1 , 765 , 278 P . 3d 653 (20 1 2)) . A tria l  cou rt has broad 

d iscret ion to ru le on i rregu larit ies du ring tria l  because it is in the best posit ion to 

determ ine whether a tria l  i rregu larity caused prejud ice .  State v .  Wade ,  1 86 Wn . App .  

749 ,  773 , 346 P . 3d 838 (20 1 5) .  

Fol lowing cross-examinat ion of Dr .  Brandford , E l m i  conceded there was no i nj u ry 

i ncu rred as a resu lt of the sedation and so h is test imony on standard of care regard i ng 

anesthesia was i rre levant. But Elmi asserted Dr .  Brandford 's  test imony was re levant to 

the standard of care for screen i ng and i nformed consent. The parties ag reed to an 

instruct ion and the tria l  cou rt instructed the j u ry as fo l lows , "you have heard test imony 

from Dr .  Brandford regard ing vio lat ions of the standard of care .  You are to d isregard 

any test imony from Dr .  Brandford as it re lates to standard of care and/or proximate 

cause re lated to Dr .  Brecht's sedation practices or methods or anesthes ia . "  

D r .  Brecht argues that the enti rety of D r .  Brandford 's  test imony was i rre levant to 

both the med ical neg l igence and the i nformed consent cla ims .  Dr .  Brecht also poi nts to 

the j u ry question about anesthesia and the standard of care after rece ivi ng the l im it ing 

instruction .  But th is question came after the j u ry heard from Dr .  Brecht's expert witness , 

Dr .  Mande l l -Brown who also testified about the standard of care and anesthes ia .  The 

tria l  cou rt provided the fo l lowing j u ry instruction :  

You have heard test imony regard i ng v io lat ions of the standard of care .  
You are to d isregard any  test imony as  i t  re lates to  standard of care and/or 
proximate cause re lated to Dr .  Brecht's sedat ion practices or methods of 
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anesthes ia .  You may consider th is test imony with regard to p la i ntiffs' 
i nformed consent cla im . 

Dr .  Brecht provides no argument that Dr .  Brandford 's  test imony was a serious 

i rregu larity .  Nor  does she add ress other properly adm itted evidence on breach of 

standard of care or lack of i nformed consent. And the j u ry was twice instructed to 

d isregard standard of care test imony re lated to sedation and anesthes ia .  The j u ry is 

presumed to fo l low the court's instructions .  S ingh v. Edwards Lifesciences Corp. , 1 5 1 

Wn . App .  1 37 ,  1 52 ,  2 1 0 P . 3d 337 (2009) . 

Dr .  Brecht briefly ra ises the issue of proximate cause and i nj u ry req u i red to prove 

i nformed consent. She re l ies on Backlund v. U n iversity of Wash i ngton ,  1 37 Wn .2d 651 , 

668 , 975 P .2d 950 ( 1 999) , to support her argument that the test imony was i rre levant 

because the und isclosed risk must be both mater ia l  and "the kind of r isk or  danger 

which resu lted i n  harm , "  and E lmi  conceded there was no harm caused by anesthes ia .  

But her argument m isses the mark and quotes from Backl und out of  context . I n  

Backl und ,  the court d iscusses the th i rd element of a n  i nformed consent c la im which 

requ i res the fact fi nder to determ ine "whether a reasonably prudent patient i n  the 

p la i ntiff's s ituation wou ld have chosen a d ifferent treatment option . "  Backl und ,  1 37 

Wn .2d at 667-68 .  I n  support of th is statement of law the Backl und court cited to severa l 

cases i nc lud ing Canterbury v. Spence ,  464 F .2d 772 , 791  (D .C .  C i r . 1 972) , i n  which the 

court said " [ i]f adequate d isclosure cou ld reasonably be expected to have caused that 

person to decl ine the treatment because of the reve lation of the k ind of r isk or  danger 

that resu lted i n  harm ,  causation is shown . "  
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Dr .  Brecht asserts that E lm i  must show the und isclosed risk caused harm .  But 

the fou rth element of an i nformed consent c la im requ i res that E lm i  show the treatment 

at issue proximate ly caused inj u ry to the patient . Backl und ,  1 37 Wn .2d at 664 . E lm i 's 

argument was that had she been adequate ly i nformed of the risks re lati ng to the 

surgeries as performed by Dr .  Brecht she wou ld not have consented to the surgery and 

it was the surgery that caused her i nj u ry .  And Dr .  Brandford 's  test imony was certa i n ly 

re levant to the mater ia l  r isks and i nformed consent re lati ng to surgery such as 

screen i ng for su rgery,  d iabetes , and anesthes ia .  3 

Dr.  Brecht fa i ls  to estab l ish that because of the adm ission of Dr .  Brandford 's  

test imony she suffered prejud ice so g reat that i t  cou ld on ly be add ressed by a new tria l . 

Thus ,  the tria l  cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion by denying the motion for m istria l . 

IV 

Dr .  Brecht argues the tria l  cou rt erred by denying the motion for new tria l  

because Elmi  comm itted m iscond uct th roughout tria l  creat ing incurable prej ud ice .  Dr .  

Brecht asserts a new tria l  was requ i red because of the vio lat ions of the motions in 

l im i ne regard i ng exh ib it 26 1 and test imony of Kod is-F isher . 4 We d isag ree . 

We review a tria l  cou rt's decis ion to deny a new tria l  for abuse of d iscretion .  

Brund ridge v.  F l uo r  Fed . Servs . ,  I nc. , 1 64 Wn .2d 432 , 454 , 1 9 1 P . 3d 879 (2008) . 

3 Dr. Brandford testified that d iabetes presents comp l icated and important risks for a surg ica l 
patient that shou ld be d isclosed pr ior to su rgery and that a patient's A 1 C must be known pr ior to surgery .  
Dr . Brandford also identif ied lack of i ntravenous access as a r isk .  He testified that the forms appeared 
incomplete as to patient h istory and confus ing as to the risks of anesthesia .  

4 Dr. Brecht also argues that a new tria l  was requ i red because of the v io lat ion of Elm i 's mot ion in 
l im ine  by asking Dr. Luu  about "C indere l la  Anesthesia , "  and E lm i 's m isrepresentat ion of the scope of 
c la ims regard ing  anesthesia and harm and subsequent withd rawal of that c la im for med ical neg l igence. 
But Dr. Brecht d id not argue  m isconduct re lated to Dr. Luu's testimony or the scope of anesthesia c la ims 
i n  her mot ion for new tria l  u nder CR 59(a)(2 ) .  Accord i ng ly ,  we decl i ne  to add ress the argument on 
appea l .  RAP 2 . 5(a) ; Roberson ,  1 56 Wn .2d at 39 .  
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A 

In motions in l imine, exhibit 261 was redacted to show four surgical patients only. 

Dr. Brecht testified that she agreed to everything in exhibit 261 , and that " I  think it's 

referring to four patients, not Ms. Elmi ." The testimony led to the fo llowing exchange: 

Q: Is it only having to do with four patients? 
A: That's what the agreed order is talking about. 

Q: Dr. Brecht, there are more patients in this order than four, isn't there? 
A: I agreed to whatever was in this order. 
MS. WICK: Objection ,  Your Honor . . .  Motions in l imine. 

THE COURT: Well ,  I 'm going to let her answer stand. Go ahead. 
MS. ALIMENT: Did you say sustained? 
THE COURT: I 'm going to let her answer stand, so that's essentially 

being overruled. She answered before-
MS. ALIMENT: I couldn't hear her answer over Counsel's objection. 
Sorry. 

THE COURT: Her answer, Dr. Brecht's answer is going to stand. Just 
ask your next question .  
Q.  (By Ms. Aliment): How many patients were addressed in this order? 

A: I don't-well ,  A, B, C, D. We're talking about four patients. 
Q: Dr. Brecht, there's nine patients addressed in this order, isn't there? 
MS. WICK: Objection ,  Your Honor. Motions in l imine. 

Outside the presence of the jury, Dr. Brecht asked for mistrial and the trial court 

disagreed that mistrial was the appropriate remedy. Instead the trial court instructed the 

jury as follows: 

Exhibit 261 covers four patients and four patients only: Patients A, B, C,  
and D.  You are to disregard any testimony that's inconsistent with that. 

And I want to remind you that questions or statements of Counsel is not 
evidence. The evidence is the testimony of the witnesses and the exhibits 
that are admitted. That is the testimony-or that is the evidence. So to 

the extent that there was any questions that suggested that additional 
patients were covered by this exhibit, you are to ignore the content of that 
question. 
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Also in motions in l imine, the testimony of Kodis-Fisher was l imited to oral 

statements by Dr. Brecht while going through consent forms. Elmi 's counsel asked 

Kodis-Fisher about her scars: 

Q :  Are the scars that you have today consistent with how they were 

described to you before surgery by Dr. Brecht? 

MS. MARQUEZ: Objection, Your Honor. Motions in l imine. 

Outside the presence of the jury, Dr. Brecht renewed her motion for mistrial and the trial 

court made the fo llowing rul ing: 

An unanswered question, in my view, is-is not worthy of a mistria l .  And 

the question itself did not contain sufficiently prejudicial information or 
anything else that would warrant that severe of a recourse. 
I do think that counsel needs to be mindful of the Court's rulings on motion 

in l imine and just not push it. I feel l ike you're kind of just trying to tiptoe 
right up to the l ine and sometimes peek over, and you just don't need to 
do that. It's-it's not productive, and it's so-but I'm happy to instruct the 

jurors to disregard the prior answer and we can-I'm sorry-the prior 
question and we can move on.  Or you don't need to make a bigger deal 
of it. That's your-that's your strategy and however you want to do it. But 

I 'm offering you the opportunity for any kind of curative instruction that you 
want. 

And, again, there's no actual evidence of nine patients. There's no actual 
evidence of the scarring, in regards to this witness. There's just the 
questions that touched on those topics, which I've reminded the jurors, 

and I 'm happy to do it again, if you want me to, which is not the-the 
questions themselves are not evidence at al l .  

The trial court reminded the jurors that statements and questions of counsel are not 

evidence. 

At the hearing on the motion for a new trial, Dr. Brecht did not argue misconduct 

by violations of motions in l imine and relied on her motion. The trial court denied the 

motion: 
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I have cons idered the motion . I 've cons idered the opposit ion . At j ust a 
fundamenta l  leve l ,  there isn 't  anyth ing i n  the record to support any of the 
arguments that are made based on what a l leged ly happened du ring the 
tria l  or  what questions were asked , what answers were g iven ,  what ru l i ng  
was made by the Cou rt .  

So as-as j ust that fundamenta l  bas is ,  I th i nk  that warrants denia l  of-of 
the motion .  And that even-even essentia l ly consider ing the arguments 
as being based on what happened and just making that assumption , I 
don 't be l ieve that the th reshold has been met for a new tria l . 

B 

Our  Supreme Court has exp la i ned when new tria ls shou ld be g ranted based on 

m iscond uct :  

New tria ls prem ised on m iscond uct are appropriate when "m isconduct of 
[the] preva i l i ng  party" "materia l ly affect[s] the substant ia l  rig hts of [the 
agg rieved] parties . "  CR 59(a)(2) . A party seeking a new tria l  for 
m iscond uct must estab l ish that ( 1 ) the chal lenged conduct was actua l ly 
m iscond uct ,  (2) the m isconduct was prejud icia l ,  (3) the m isconduct was 
objected to at tria l , and (4) the m iscond uct was not cu red by the tria l  
cou rt's instructions .  The key question is whether "such a fee l i ng  of 
prejud ice [has] been engendered or located in the m inds of the j u ry as to 
prevent a l it igant from havi ng a fa i r  tr ia l . "  

Coogan v .  Borg-Warner Morse Tee I nc. , 1 97 Wn .2d 790 , 806 , 490 P . 3d 200 (202 1 )  

(alterat ions i n  orig ina l )  (citat ions and interna l  quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng Alum .  

Co .  of Am . v .  Aetna Cas . & Sur. Co . , 1 40 Wn .2d 5 1 7 ,  537 , 998 P .2d 856 (2000)) . 

I n  her motion for new tria l , Dr .  Brecht ra ised the vio lat ions of motions i n  l im i ne but 

fa i led to make any argument and merely referred to the argument presented i n  her 

motion for m istria l-a motion that was den ied . 5 And the mot ion for m istria l  s imp ly 

5 On appea l ,  Dr . Brecht does not ra ise the m isconduct argument i n  her cha l lenge to the den ia l  of 
the motion for m istria l .  
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concludes,  without citat ion to authority ,  that these two incidents amount to m iscond uct 

and satisfy the CR 59(a) standard .  

I n  b riefi ng to th is cou rt ,  Dr .  Brecht cites to Teter v .  Deck, 1 74 Wn .2d 207 ,  274 

P . 3d 336 (20 1 2) ,  and argues the two incidents amount to m isconduct. But Teter is 

d isti ngu ishable because it i nvo lved vio lat ions of severa l orders and repeated attempts to 

improperly put exh ib its i n  front of the j u ry over object ion and in  v io lat ion of motions in 

l im i ne even after counsel was warned . 1 74 Wn .2d at 223-25 .  The leve l of m iscond uct 

here ,  if it even was m isconduct ,  does not rise to the leve l shown i n  Teter. And Dr .  

Brecht fa i ls  to persuade that the two vio lat ions were not cu red by the l im it ing 

instruct ions or that "such a fee l i ng  of prej ud ice [has] been engendered or located i n  the 

m i nds of the j u ry as to prevent a l it igant from havi ng a fa i r  tr ia l . "  Coogan ,  1 97 Wn .2d at 

806 . 

For these reasons ,  the tria l  cou rt d id not abuse its d iscret ion by denyi ng the 

motion for new tria l . 

V 

Dr .  Brecht argues the tria l  cou rt erred by denying her motion for j udgment as a 

matter of law and motion for d i rected verd ict because E lm i 's CPA cla im is based on the 

resu lts of the surgery and are ind isti ngu ishable from the med ical neg l igence cla im .  Dr. 

Brecht re l ies on Ambach v.  French , 1 67 Wn .2d 1 67 ,  1 73 ,  2 1 6  P . 3d 405 (2009) , and 

argues that E lm i  d id not provide evidence that Dr .  Brecht's market ing i nduced patients 

to purchase her services . 

A motion for d i rected verd ict or  j udgment as a matter of law "shou ld be g ranted 

on ly when ,  after viewing the evidence in the l ig ht most favorab le to the nonmoving 
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party , there is no substant ia l  evidence or reasonable i nferences therefrom to support a 

verd ict for the nonmovi ng party . "6 Manci n i  v. C ity of Tacoma, 1 96 Wn .2d 864 , 877 , 479 

P . 3d 656 (202 1 )  (quoting H . B . H .  v .  State , 1 92 Wn .2d 1 54 ,  1 62 , 429 P . 3d 484 (20 1 8)) . 

'"Substant ia l  evidence is said to exist if it is sufficient to persuade a fa i r-m inded , rat ional  

person of the truth of the declared premise . "' Manci n i ,  1 96 Wn .2d at 877 (quoti ng 

Gu ijosa v .  Wal-Mart Stores, I nc. , 1 44 Wn .2d 907 , 9 1 5 ,  32 P . 3d 250 (200 1 )) .  "The 

evidence must be considered in the l i ght most favorab le to the nonmoving party . "  

Manci n i ,  1 96 Wn .2d at 877 (quoting Bender v .  C ity of Seattle , 99  Wn .2d 582 , 587 , 664 

P .2d 492 ( 1 983)) . 

RCW 1 9 .86 . 090 a l lows "[a]ny person who is i nj u red i n  h is or  her bus i ness or 

property" to br ing a civi l act ion to recover actual damages , tria l  costs , and attorney fees. 

Personal i nj u ries do not constitute i nj u ry to bus i ness or property . Ambach , 1 67 Wn .2d 

at 1 73 .  "To state a pr ima facie c la im under the [CPA] , a p la intiff must estab l ish five 

d isti nct elements : ( 1 ) an unfa i r  or deceptive act or practice , (2) occu rri ng in trade or 

commerce , (3)  pub l ic  i nterest impact ,  (4) i nj u ry to the p la i ntiff i n  h is or her bus iness or 

property , and (5)  causation . "  Wi l l iams v.  Lifestyle L ift Hold i ngs, I nc . , 1 75 Wn . App .  62 , 

70 ,  302 P . 3d 523 (20 1 3) (citi ng Hangman Ridge Tra in i ng Stab les, I nc .  v. Safeco Tit le 

I ns .  Co . ,  1 05 Wn .2d 778 , 780 , 7 1 9 P .2d 53 1 ( 1 986)) . 

I n  Ambach , Dr .  French performed a shou lder su rgery on Ambach . Fol lowing the 

surgery,  Ambach compla i ned of excess ive pain and it was determ ined she had a staph 

i nfect ion i n  her shou lder and needed fu rther su rgeries resu lt ing i n  various fi nancia l  

6 "Mot ions for d i rected verd ict and motions for judgment notwithstand ing the verd ict were 
renamed "motions for judg ment as a matter of law" effective September 1 7 , 1 993 . "  Gu ijosa v. Wal-Mart 
Stores, I nc. , 1 44 Wn .2d 907 , 9 1 5 ,  32 P . 3d 250 (200 1 ) .  
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losses . But Ambach ag reed that her CPA i nj u ry stemmed from the surgery itself and 

our  Supreme Cou rt held that "what she rea l ly seeks is red ress for her personal i nj u ries , 

not i nj u ry to her bus i ness or property . "  Ambach , 1 67 Wn .2d at 1 78-79 .  The court also 

noted that Ambach fa i led to "a l lege that Dr .  French active ly so l icited her as a patient or  

advertised shou lder surgeries to the genera l  pub l ic . "  Ambach , 1 67 Wn .2d at 1 78 .  

I n  Wi l l iams,  Wi l l iams saw a te levis ion commercia l  for a "L ifestyle L ift" and  she 

ca l led the 1 -800 number and rece ived a brochu re which made severa l c la ims about the 

"excl us ively designed" and "m inor" face l ift that requ i red no "dangerous genera l  

anesthetic" and produced immed iate resu lts and requ i red m i n imal  recovery t ime.  1 75 

Wn . App .  at 65 .  Wi l l iams was d i rected to a surg ica l center and had a consu ltat ion 

where she was shown a video that re iterated the sales p itch from the commercia l  and 

the same day she s ig ned a surgery ag reement. Wi l l iams,  1 75 Wn . App .  at 69. The 

market ing strategy appealed specifica l ly to patients wary of trad it iona l  face l ift surgery.  

Fol lowing surgery,  Wi l l iams suffered i ntense pa in and swe l l i ng  and eventua l ly 

underwent a second surgery to correct the problems but ended up  with deformed 

earlobes and numbness in one cheek. Wi l l iams sued under the CPA but her cla im was 

d ism issed on summary j udgment .  On appea l ,  th is cou rt d isti ngu ished Ambach , and 

noted that the essence of Wi l l iams's c la im was that the defendants were i n  the bus i ness 

of se l l i ng surgeries and that she wou ld have never g iven them money but for the i r  

advertis ing and  marketi ng . Wi l l iams,  1 75 Wn . App .  a t  72 . Th i s  cou rt concl uded that 

Wi l l iams stated a pr ima facie c la im under the CPA. Wi l l iams,  1 75 Wn . App .  at 74 . 

Here ,  E lm i 's CPA cla im is s im i lar  to the c la im i n  Wi l l iams,  that but for Dr .  Brecht's 

deceptive advertis ing , she wou ld not have g iven Dr .  Brecht money. Dr .  Brecht testified 
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that she was the u lt imate decis ionmaker for the market ing and advert isement of ARS 

services . The j u ry saw evidence of the ARS process which i nvolved i nterna l  and 

externa l  market ing to accomp l ish the "u lt imate goal"  of gett ing patients to have surgery.  

The p lan i nvo lved sched u l i ng "motivated" patients for a preop on the same day as the 

consu lt and obta i n i ng a $ 1 000 deposit .  Regard i ng pub l i c  advertis ing , Dr .  Brecht 

testified that she never renamed the ARS Yelp page .  Lopez testified that there were "a 

lot" of negative patient reviews on Yelp  and that Dr .  Brecht asked her to contact Yelp  to 

i nqu i re whether they cou ld be taken down . She testified that Yelp  cou ld not a lter the 

negative reviews and that Dr .  Brecht changed the name of her Yelp  page to Restylyne .  7 

E lm i  testified that she found Dr .  Brecht on l i ne  but d id not see a lot of reviews of 

surgeries . She testified that she looked at the ARS website .  The ARS webs ite 

advertised Dr .  Brecht's trademark "C i ndere l la  Anesthes ia . "  The webs ite also inc luded 

photos of resu lts for procedu res done on stomachs and arms that showed smal l  

i ncis ions .  The ARS webs ite advertised Dr .  Brecht as a "board certified physic ian from 

the U n iversity of Massachusetts , and completed her p lastic su rgery fe l lowsh ip  from 

U n iversity of South F lorida . "  Dr .  Rubenste in  testified that based on that i nformat ion he 

wou ld not know what her board certificat ion was i n .  

Un l i ke i n  Ambach , here there was a market ing p lan that targeted patients who 

were motivated to have surgery.  Although the advertis ing i n  th is case d id not occu r 

exactly l i ke the advertis ing i n  Wi l l iams,  E lm i  presented sufficient evidence to persuade a 

rationa l  fa i r-m inded person that Dr .  Brecht used deceptive pub l i c  advertis ing i n  her 

7 Also referred to  i n  the record as " Resty lane . "  
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bus i ness . The evidence is a lso sufficient to persuade that such practices caused E lm i  

to  ag ree to the procedu re and  hand  over her  money. 

Viewing the evidence in  the l i ght most favorab le to E lm i ,  we conclude substantia l  

evidence supports the verd ict and the tria l  cou rt d id not err by deny ing the motions for 

j udgment as a matter of law and d i rected verd ict on the CPA cla im . 

We affi rm . 

WE CONCUR:  

, /JCO 
, 
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